FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
2/3/2023 1:26 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/3/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101692-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

CURTIS LEE MCKNIGHT, JR.,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 56250-2-II
Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
Superior Court Cause Number 19-1-03392-6
The Honorable Garold Johnson, Judge

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Petitioner WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Curtis Lee McKnight, Jr., Defendant and Appellant in the case below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the part-published opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division 2, case number 56250-2-II, which was filed on January 10, 2023. (Attached in Appendix) The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction entered against Petitioner in the Pierce County Superior Court.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court violate Curtis McKnight's Sixth
Amendment right to a jury pulled from a
representative cross-section of the community, and
his right to a fair and impartial jury trial, when it
refused to modify its jury voir dire and selection
procedures in order to ensure that African American
potential jurors would not automatically be

excluded?

- 2. Where Curtis McKnight was a passenger in a car where a firearm was found, and the State failed to present any evidence beyond mere proximity that connected him to the firearm, was the evidence insufficient to establish constructive possession and therefore insufficient to prove that he unlawfully possessed a firearm?
- 3. *Pro Se* issues: was Curtis McKnight's right to a speedy trial violated and did he receive ineffective assistance of counsel?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State accused Curtis McKnight, an African American man, of assaulting his ex-girlfriend and an acquaintance, and of harassing or threating individuals who witnessed the assault. The State also accused McKnight of possessing a firearm found under the seat of a vehicle in which he was a passenger. During jury

selection, the trial judge refused to adjust its procedures to ensure that the pool of potential jurors represented a fair cross-section of the community. At trial, the State did not present any evidence supporting a finding that McKnight knew the gun was in the vehicle, or that he exercised dominion and control over the gun.

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Curtis L. McKnight, Jr. with one count of assault in the first degree while armed with a deadly weapon (a bat), one count of second degree assault while armed with a deadly weapon (a machete), two counts of felony harassment, two counts of witness tampering, and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm. (CP 63-67)

The jury acquitted McKnight of the tampering charges and one of the harassment charges, but found him guilty of the remaining charges and aggravators. (RP17 2001-03) The trial court imposed a standard range

sentence totaling 351 months of confinement. (CP 219-21, 226, 243; RP18 2043-44, 2046; RP19 2060)

McKnight filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (CP 122-25) The Court of Appeals affirmed McKnight's conviction and sentence.

B. Substantive Facts

The charges in this case arise from two alleged assaults committed in August of 2019 in or near a homeless encampment in the Hilltop neighborhood of Tacoma. Curtis McKnight's ex-girlfriend, Michelle Curran, testified that McKnight pushed her against a fence and punched her in the face. (RP9 1060-61, 1063, 1075) Eugene Demapan, who had tried to help Curran, testified that McKnight struck him several times with a baseball bat a few days later. Additional facts relevant to these incidents are contained in the Opening Brief of Appellant.

Investigating officers located McKnight on September 2, 2019. (RP11 1427-28; RP13 1611) They

found him sitting in the front passenger seat of a parked car. (RP11 1395; RP13 1616) According to the officers, when they asked McKnight to get out of the vehicle he leaned forward and began to reach his hand towards the underside of the seat. (RP12 1468; RP13 1620) They removed McKnight from the vehicle, and saw the butt of a loaded handgun sticking out from under the seat. (RP11 1393; RP12 1471-72; RP13 1620)

V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

The issues raised by McKnight's petition should be addressed by this Court because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with settled case law of the Court of Appeals, this Court and of the United State's Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

The Court of Appeals failed to recognize the inadequacy of the current test for determining whether a defendant's constitutional right to a jury pulled from a representative cross-section of the community has been

violated. The Court of Appeals' decision to affirm the trial court's conduct during voir dire violated of McKnights constitutional right to a fair trial.

Additionally, this Court is currently considering whether article I, sections 21 and 22 of the Washington Constitution are more protective of a criminal defendant's right to a jury venire comprised of a fair cross section of the community than the Sixth Amendment. See State v. Rivers, No. 100922-4. If this Court finds that it does provide greater protection, then the broader protections would apply to McKnight and support his argument that the current federal cross-section violation test must be adjusted and expanded.

The State also failed to meet its constitutional burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that McKnight constructively possessed a firearm. The Court of Appeals decision upholding this conviction is contrary

to other cases interpreting the meaning of constructive possession.

A. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MCKNIGHT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A JURY PULLED FROM A REPRESENTATIVE CROSS-SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY.

The trial court chose to use a jury voir dire and selection process that essentially guaranteed that no African Americans would have a chance of serving on McKnight's jury. The trial court thereby failed to protect McKnight's Sixth Amendment right to a jury that came from a representative cross-section of the community, and violated his right to a fair trial.

1. Additional Facts Relating to Jury Selection

All of the potential jurors in this case were given numbers from one to 70. (CP 249-52) For the final round of questioning, the remaining jurors were divided into three smaller groups in order to accommodate COVID distancing and capacity rules. (RP7 723-24; CP 254-56)

The first venire panel consisted of 10 potential jurors with numbers between 43 and 57. (CP 256) The second venire panel consisted of 10 potential jurors with numbers between 22 and 41. (RP 255) The third venire panel consisted of 16 potential jurors with numbers between 1 and 21. (CP 254)

Defense counsel drew the court's attention to the fact that all of the potential African American jurors were assigned higher numbers within the pool. (RP6 704-05; RP7 796) She noted that 40 percent of the first panel was African American, and that none of the potential jurors on the second and third panel were African American. (RP7 796) Therefore, because of the way the judge had decided to select the jury—starting with the lowest juror numbers from the third venire panel and ending once the 12 person plus three alternates panel was reached—none of the African American individuals were going to stand a realistic chance of sitting on the

final jury panel. (RP6 704-05, 706; RP7 796, 797)

Defense counsel asked the judge to reverse directions and start selection with the higher numbers, so that the venire from which the jury was drawn would potentially include an African American individual. (RP6 704-05; RP7 796-97) The trial court refused to make any changes to his pre-determined process, stating "this has nothing to do at all with excluding somebody based on race. Has nothing to do with it. I want to make that very clear. That is the process, it's a random selection of jurors, and that's what we've done today." (RP6 706-07)

As defense counsel predicted, the juror and alternate seats were filled by individuals in the second two panels with juror numbers between 1 and 40. (CP 249-51) None of the individuals from the first venire, which included the only African American potential jurors, were seated. (CP 251)

2. The trial court's decision about how to conduct jury voir dire and jury selection violated McKnight's right to a fair trial and his right to a jury pulled from a representative cross-section of the community.

A criminal defendant has a federal and state constitutional right to a fair trial and to a fair and impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. In selecting a jury, trial courts have broad discretion to determine how best to conduct voir dire. State v. Davis. 141 Wn.2d 798, 826, 10 P.3d 977 (2000). court's exercise of discretion is limited "only when the record reveals that the [trial] court abused its discretion and thus prejudiced the defendant's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury." Davis, 141 Wn.2d at 826. The standard of review for a Sixth Amendment challenge to the composition of the jury is de novo. *Duren v. Missouri*, 439 U.S. 357, 99 S. Ct. 664, 58 L. Ed. 2d 579 (1979).

Because of the risk that the factor of race may enter the criminal justice process, courts have engaged in

"unceasing efforts" to eradicate racial prejudice from our criminal justice system. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 85, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). These efforts have been guided by the recognition that "the inestimable privilege of trial by jury ... is a vital principle, underlying the whole administration of criminal justice[.]" McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 309-10, 107 S. Ct. 1756, 95 L. Ed. 2d 262 (1987) (quoting *Ex parte Milligan*, 4 Wall. 2, 123, 18 L. Ed. 281 (1866) and citing *Duncan v. Louisiana*, 391 U.S. 145, 155, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 1450, 20 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1968)). "Thus, it is the jury that is a criminal defendant's fundamental 'protection of life and liberty against race or color prejudice." McCleskey, 481 U.S. at 310 (quoting Strauder v. West Virginia, 100 U.S. (10 Otto) 303, 309, 25 L.Ed. 664 (1880)).

The Sixth Amendment to the United States

Constitution states that, "In all criminal prosecutions, the

accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial,

by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed..." The Supreme Court has interpreted this language as requiring prospective jurors to be drawn from a representative cross-section of the community. *Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S. Ct. 692, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975). It is "an essential component of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial" that juries must be drawn from venires that represent a fair cross-section of the community where the trial is heard. *Taylor*, 419 U.S. at 528, 529-30.

The fair cross-section standard reflects the Court's recognition that—separate and independent from the harm of discrimination the absence of any distinctive group in the community "deprives the jury of a perspective on human events" that may be critical to evaluating a criminal case. It is the community's judgment against which the government's claims are to be tested. When juries are not selected from a fair crosssection of the community and thus fail to fairly and reasonably represent distinctive groups in the community like African-Americans and Hispanics, the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to an impartial jury is violated. Representative juries, moreover, are critical to public confidence in the justice system.

Nina W. Chernoff, Wrong About the Right: How Courts Undermine the Fair Cross-Section Guarantee by Confusing It with Equal Protection, 64 Hastings L.J. 141, 144 (2012) (footnotes omitted) (citing Peters v. Kiff, 407 U.S. 493, 503-04 (1972); Taylor, 419 U.S. at 530; Leslie Ellis & Shari Seidman Diamond, Race, Diversity, and Jury Composition: Battering and Bolstering Legitimacy, 78 Chi.-Kent L. Rev. 1033, 1049 (2003)).

The Supreme Court developed a three-prong test in *Duren v. Missouri*, to determine whether there has been a violation of the fair cross-section requirement in the selection of the jury venire. 439 U.S. at 364. Under *Duren*, a criminal defendant alleging a cross-section violation must show that (1) "the group alleged to be excluded [from the jury system] is a 'distinctive' group in the community," (2) "the representation of this group in

venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community," and (3) "this underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process." 439 U.S. at 364.

This test is applied when a defendant asserts that the process used to choose the larger pool of prospective jurors systematically results in a venire that is not representative of the community. But McKnight is not challenging the Pierce County Superior Court's process of selecting the jury venire, nor does he claim that the larger jury venire called in this case was not representative of the Pierce County community. Rather, McKnight contends that the trial court violated his Sixth Amendment right by choosing to question the venire and conduct jury selection in a manner that virtually guaranteed that his jurors would not be drawn from a representative crosssection of the community. Thus, the three prong *Duren* test is inapplicable, as it does not address the constitutional violation asserted here.

McKnight would easily be able to meet the first two prongs. It is undisputed that African American residents are a distinctive group in the community. See *In re Yates*, 177 Wn.2d 1, 20, 296 P.3d 872 (2013). And African Americans made up approximately 7.7 percent of the population of Pierce County when this case was tried in 2021. So a jury pool with zero percent African American individuals is clearly not a fair and reasonable representation.

But because of the unique nature of the facts in this case, the question of whether or not the underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion cannot address the potential Sixth Amendment violation

¹ U.S. Census Bureau, Population Estimates Program; https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/piercecounty washington/RHI225219#RHI225219 (viewed 01/21/22).

present here. This Court must look beyond *Duren* to determine whether or not the jury selection process violated McKnight's Sixth Amendment right to a jury picked from a fair and representative cross-section of the community.

"The Constitution does not guarantee a defendant a proportionate number of his racial group on the jury panel or the jury which tries him," but it does prohibit the "deliberate exclusion of an identifiable racial group from the juror selection process." United States v. Jones, 687 F.2d 1265, 1269 (8th Cir.1982) (quoting *United States v.* Turcotte, 558 F.2d 893, 895 (8th Cir.1977)). And it does guarantee a defendant a "fair possibility for obtaining a representative cross-section of the community." Williams v. Florida, 399 U.S. 78, 100, 90 S. Ct. 1893, 26 L. Ed. 2d 446 (1970). A showing of purposeful discrimination is not required to make a fair-cross-section claim. State v. Cienfuegos, 144 Wn.2d 222, 232, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001) (there is no need to prove intent to discriminate under the Sixth Amendment); *United States v. Perez-Hernandez*, 672 F.2d 1380, 1385 (11th Cir.1982); Chernoff, 64 Hastings L.J. at 152, 154.

Here, the judge deprived McKnight of a fair possibility of obtaining a jury that represented a crosssection of the community. Defense counsel pointed out to the judge that all of the potential African American jurors on the venire had higher juror numbers. (RP6 704-05; RP7 796) If the court were to seat jurors starting with the lower numbers, then, as defense counsel pointed out, the full jury panel would be seated long before any of the numbers of the African American jurors would be reached. (RP6 704-05; RP7 796) By refusing to start selection with the highest numbers and proceeding downward, as requested by defense counsel, the trial court guaranteed that McKnight's jurors would be chosen from a pool that contained zero African American

individuals. (RP6 706-07; RP 796-97)

The judge did not want to adjust his process because it was already a "random selection of jurors." (RP6 707) That is not entirely correct. The assignment of numbers to each potential juror may be random, but the decision to start with juror number one and move up from there is a deliberate choice. And after the judge had been made aware of the fact that all potential African American jurors had high numbers, starting with the lowest number deliberately excluded them.

The Court of Appeals claimed that "McKnight's proposal to reorder the prospective jurors would have disrupted the randomness inherent in the entire jury selection process" and would have "[a]llow[ed] the trial court to pick and choose which of the prospective jurors should be given priority for a seat on the jury based on the personal characteristics of those jurors[.]" (Opinion at 10)

This mischaracterized McKnight's proposal, and willfully disregards the many alternatives that the trial court could have used to conduct voir dire that would have kept the process random. Reversing the order, as suggested by the defense at trial, would not have resulted in the judge "picking and choosing" prospective jurors. But that was also not the judge's only option. If the judge felt that simply changing the order from highest to lowest would somehow make the process non-random, he could have, for example, randomly selected the jurors to be included in each venire panel, and selected the jury starting with the newly-configured third panel as originally planned.

Even though the judge did not appear to be excluding African Americans for discriminatory reasons, he did deliberately exclude them by refusing to alter his voir dire and selection process. The judge had inherent authority to alter his jury selection process (*Davis*, 141

Wn.2d at 826), which would have still preserved the randomness of the ultimate selection and seating of the jury. The court's refusal to take reasonable steps to ensure that African Americans were not underrepresented in the jury venire violated McKnight's Sixth Amendment right to a jury drawn from a representative cross-section of the community.

The Court of Appels declined to expand the scope of the Sixth Amendment in order to promote jury diversity and "decline[d] to apply the fair cross section right beyond its settled parameters." (Opinion at 8-9) However, this Court is currently considering whether article I, sections 21 and 22 of the Washington Constitution are more protective of a criminal defendant's right to a jury venire comprised of a fair cross section of the community than the Sixth Amendment. See State v. Rivers, No. 100922-4. If this Court finds that they are more protective, then the "parameters" of the fair cross-section right are not

settled and must be expanded to address circumstances such as those presented in this case.

Furthermore, this Court recently noted that "[e]very decision of this court makes new history, in which we are 'constantly striving for better.' Our recent history has made notable strides toward recognizing and rejecting racial injustices. In addition to disavowing the blatantly racist precedent above, we have created new standards and modified old ones, particularly in the criminal justice arena." *State v. Sum*, 199 Wn.2d 627, 640, 511 P.3d 92 (2022) (citations omitted). The *Duren*/fair cross-section test is one of these "old standards" that must be modified in order to advance the cause of racial equality in our criminal justice system.

Any modification that leads to more racially diverse juries would benefit not just the cause of racial equity, but would also benefit our justice system as a whole. Recent studies show the benefits of racially diverse juries: jurors

who deliberated in diverse juries engaged in more thorough cognitive processing than jurors deliberating in nondiverse juries; diverse juries discussed more case facts, deliberated longer, and made fewer errors than juries; and made higher-quality nondiverse jurors contributions to the discussion when deliberating in diverse juries, compared to when they only deliberated with members of their own racial group. Amanda Nicholson Bergold, What Psychology Says About Jury Diversity, 61 No. 2 Judges' Journal 6 (2022).

The trial court failed to insure that McKnight's jury was drawn from a fair cross-section of the community. Accordingly, McKnight's convictions must be reversed and his case remained for a new trial. *City of Bothell v. Barnhart*, 172 Wn.2d 223, 233-34, 257 P.3d 648 (2011) ("Departure from the constitutional jury selection requirements requires reversal and remand for a new trial").

B. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION FOR UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF A FIREARM.

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