FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/14/2023 3:05 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101692-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CURTIS LEE MCKNIGHT, JR,

Petitioner.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 19-1-03392-6 Court of Appeals Cause No. 56250-2-II

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT
Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

BRITTA ANN HALVERSON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 44108 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2912

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. It Is Well Settled the Sixth Amendment Fair Cross-Section Requirement Applies to the Selection of the Larger Venire and Not to the Selection of the Petit Jury.

There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals applied well established case law and held that the trial court did not violate McKnight's Sixth Amendment right to

a jury drawn from a fair cross section of the community by refusing to reorder his randomly assigned venire for the purpose of selecting his petit jury. The Sixth Amendment fair cross-section requirement applies to the selection of the larger venire, not to the dismissal of individual jurors at the jury panel stage. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected McKnight's Sixth Amendment claim that conflicted with United States Supreme Court precedent.

Both the federal and state constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to a jury trial by a fair and impartial jury. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22. The right to an impartial jury includes the right "to be tried by a jury that is representative of the community." *State v. Hilliard*, 89 Wn.2d 430, 440, 443, 573 P.2d 22 (1977) (citing *Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S. Ct. 692, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975)). But a defendant has no right to be tried by a particular juror or by a particular jury. *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 615, 888 P.2d

1105 (1995); *Taylor*, 419 U.S. at 538 ("[d]efendants are not entitled to a jury of any particular composition").

"The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments prohibit the *systematic* exclusion of distinctive groups from jury pools." *State v. Clark*, 167 Wn. App. 667, 673, 274 P.3d 1058 (2012) (emphasis added) (citing *State v. Lanciloti*, 165 Wn.2d 661, 671, 201 P.3d 323 (2009)). To demonstrate that a jury is not a fair cross-section of the community in violation of the Sixth Amendment,² a defendant must show: "(1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a 'distinctive' group in the community;

² As the Court of Appeals recognized, McKnight bases his argument on the Sixth Amendment and does not independently argue that the Washington Constitution provides greater protection than the United States Constitution. See McKnight, 522 P.3d at 1016 n.1. While McKnight notes this Court is currently considering in *State v Rivers*, No. 100922-4, whether the Washington Constitution is more protective of a criminal defendant's fair cross-section right than the Sixth Amendment, see Pet. Rev. at 20, such a holding would not affect this case. At oral argument, petitioner Rivers conceded his fair cross-section claim concerned the selection of the venire and not the petit jury. See minute 42:16-44 Arg. at (https://tvw.org/video/washington-state-supreme-court-2022091163/?eventID=2022091163).

(2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and (3) that this under representation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process." *State v. Cienfuegos*, 144 Wn.2d 222, 232, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001) (quoting *Duren v. Missouri*, 439 U.S. 357, 364, 99 S. Ct. 664, 58 L. Ed. 2d 579 (1979)).

McKnight makes no attempt to demonstrate the second and third prongs of the *Duren* test, *i.e.*, that (1) underrepresentation of Black jurors in venires, not just his venire, from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable, and (2) such underrepresentation is due to the systematic exclusion of Black individuals in the jury selection process. Rather, McKnight concedes he is "not challenging the Pierce County Superior Court's process of selecting the jury venire, nor does he claim that the larger jury venire called in this case was not representative of the Pierce County community." Pet. Rev. at 14; *see also McKnight*, 522 P.3d at 1018 (noting McKnight's

concession). McKnight thus concedes he does not have a valid Sixth Amendment fair cross-section claim. *See Cienfuegos*, 144 Wn.2d at 232 ("Cienfuegos has made no attempt at showing the second or third factors, and therefore this challenge fails under *Hilliard* and *Duren*."). McKnight attempts to expand the reach of the Sixth Amendment's fair cross-section requirement to the conduct of voir dire and selection of the petit jury, but, as the Court of Appeals recognized, his claim is foreclosed by United States Supreme Court precedent.

It is well established the Sixth Amendment fair cross-section requirement applies to the selection of the *venire* and not to the selection of a particular jury. *See Holland v. Illinois*, 493 U.S. 474, 480, 482-83, 110 S. Ct. 803, 107 L. Ed. 2d 905 (1990) ("The Sixth Amendment requirement of a fair cross section on the venire is a means of assuring, not a *representative* jury (which the Constitution does not demand), but an *impartial* one (which it does.") (emphasis in original); *Berghuis v. Smith*, 559 U.S. 314, 319, 130 S. Ct. 1382, 176 L. Ed. 2d 249 (2010) ("The Sixth

Amendment secures to criminal defendants the right to be tried by an impartial jury *drawn from sources* reflecting a fair cross section of the community.") (emphasis added); *Lockhart v. McCree*, 476 U.S. 162, 173, 106 S. Ct. 1758, 90 L. Ed. 2d 137 (1986) ("We have never invoked the fair-cross-section principle to invalidate the use of either for-cause or peremptory challenges to prospective jurors, or to require petit juries, as opposed to jury panels or venires, to reflect the composition of the community at large."); *Taylor*, 419 U.S. at 538 ("[W]e impose no requirement that petit juries actually chosen must mirror the community and reflect the various distinctive groups in the population.").

The Court of Appeals properly applied the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Sixth Amendment to McKnight's case and held that his constitutional right to have a jury drawn from a fair cross-section of the community was not violated. *See McKnight*, 522 P.3d at 1016-18. McKnight fails to show the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with settled law of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals under RAP

13.4(b)(1) and (2), and therefore this Court should decline to accept review.

B. Washington Law Requires a Randomly Selected Jury, Not a Jury of Any Particular Composition.

Courts have a duty to ensure the continued random selection of juries. The Court of Appeals correctly adhered to statutory and constitutional principles when it determined the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to manipulate McKnight's randomly selected jury to increase the likelihood that jurors of a particular race would be seated on his jury. Again, review is not warranted.

A trial court's ruling on challenges to the venire process is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Davis*, 141 Wn.2d 798, 825, 10 P.3d 977 (2000); *State v. Tingdale*, 117 Wn.2d 595, 600, 817 P.2d 850 (1991). When a jury selection process substantially complies with the applicable statutes or rules, a defendant must show prejudice from the selection process. *Tingdale*, 117 Wn.2d at 600.

"A randomly selected jury is a right provided by statute and is based on the Legislature's policy of providing an impartial jury." Tingdale, 117 Wn.2d at 600; see RCW 2.36.080(1). Washington's statutes are replete with references to the randomness requirement. See, e.g., RCW 2.36.065 (trial court has a "duty...to ensure continued random selection of the master jury list and jury panels" and "[n]othing in this chapter shall be construed as requiring uniform equipment or method throughout the state, so long as fair and random selection of the master jury list and jury panels is achieved."); RCW 2.36.010(9) ("jury panel" means "those persons randomly selected for jury service for a particular jury term"); RCW 2.36.010(12) ("master jury list" means "the list of prospective jurors from which jurors summoned to serve will be randomly selected"); RCW 4.44.120 ("a panel of potential jurors shall be selected at random from the citizens summoned for jury service who have appeared and have not been excused.").

In light of this clear expression from the Legislature, the Court of Appeals recognized that "randomness is an essential feature of the jury selection process." *See McKnight*, 522 P.3d at 1018. By all accounts, McKnight had a randomly selected and numbered jury venire. *See* CP 249-252. He does not claim otherwise. Rather, McKnight claims the trial court erred in declining to reorder his randomly ordered jury.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined "the trial court did not abuse its discretion in implementing its jury selection procedure and in not reordering the prospective jurors." *McKnight*, 522 P.3d at 1019. First, the trial court's decision was consistent with the Legislature's stated policy of ensuring a randomly selected jury. Purposefully rearranging the order of prospective jurors, as suggested by McKnight, would only undermine the randomness requirement.

Second, the trial court was clear at the beginning of the jury selection process that the presumed jury, including alternates, would be jurors one through fifteen (i.e., the jurors

with the lowest numbers). *See* RP 45-46, 610-12. This approach was entirely consistent with the "struck" method of jury selection used by courts in this state. *See State v. Clark*, 143 Wn.2d 731, 762-63 n.3, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001) (describing "struck" method of voir dire); *McKnight*, 522 P.3d at 1018 (taking judicial notice of same). Nothing in the record suggests the trial court's method of jury selection was influenced by the prospective jurors' race. Rather, the jury selection process complied with normal courtroom practice as well as applicable statutes and court rules requiring a randomly selected jury.³

Third, the trial court's decision aligned with this Court's recognition that a defendant has no right to be tried by a particular jury or by a particular jury. *Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d at 615; *see also Hilliard*, 89 Wn.2d at 442 ("a defendant is not entitled"

-

³ Additionally, McKnight fails to show prejudice from the jury selection process in his case. *See Tingdale*, 117 Wn.2d at 600 (when a jury selection process substantially complies with the applicable statutes or rules, a defendant must show prejudice from the selection process.).

to exact cross-representation in the jury pool, nor need the jury selected for his trial be of any particular composition"); *State v. Salinas*, 87 Wn.2d 112, 114, 549 P.2d 712 (1976) ("A criminal defendant possesses no constitutional right to be tried by a petit jury which contains a proportionate number of members of his own race."). McKnight asked the trial court to reorder the venire to increase the likelihood that the Black prospective jurors would be seated on his jury. But McKnight had no constitutional right to be tried by a jury that included members of his own race. The trial court was right to reject his request.

Granting McKnight's request to reorder the venire based solely on race would not only have been inconsistent with the randomness requirement of jury selection procedures, but would also have raised equal protection concerns. Qualified jurors have a personal constitutional equal protection right to an equal opportunity to serve on a jury. *See J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B.*, 511 U.S. 127, 140-46, 114 S. Ct. 1419, 128 L. Ed. 2d 89 (1994) (individual jurors have a right to nondiscriminatory jury

selection procedures); *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 409-10, 414, 111 S. Ct. 1364, 113 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1991) (individual jurors have an equal protection right not to be excluded from a jury on account on race).

Deliberately manipulating McKnight's jury venire based on race would have violated the equal protection rights of the other prospective jurors in his case. See, e.g., United States v. Ovalle, 136 F.3d 1092, 1105-06 (6th Cir. 1998) (holding jury selection plan which provided for random removal of specified number of "white or other" potential jurors from list violated equal protection); People v. Hollins, 366 Ill. App. 3d 533, 540-42, 852 N.E.2d 414, 304 Ill. Dec. 164 (2006) (holding "any arbitrary manipulation of any jury pool on the basis of race, constitutes an actionable due process violation," and deliberate manipulation of jury pool to exclude white jurors from venire violated the equal protection clause of the fourteenth amendment). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in not reordering the prospective jurors, and the Court of Appeals properly found the same.

McKnight fails to demonstrate the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. This Court should decline to accept review.

C. The Court of Appeals Properly Viewed the Evidence in the Light Most Favorable to the State and Found Sufficient Evidence to Support McKnight's Conviction For Unlawful Possession of a Firearm.

The Court of Appeals applied well established sufficiency of the evidence principles and determined sufficient evidence supports McKnight's conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm. McKnight hid a firearm underneath his passenger seat when approached by police and reached for the firearm when advised he was under arrest. The grip of the firearm was plainly visible to police from outside the vehicle. Because the Court of Appeals decision adheres to established case law regarding actual and constructive possession, review is not warranted.

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction when, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any

rational fact finder could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Id.* Circumstantial and direct evidence are considered equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

A person is guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree if he knowingly has a firearm in his possession or control and has previously been convicted of a serious offense.

See RCW 9.41.040(1)(a); CP 165-166. Here, McKnight stipulated that he had previously been convicted of a serious offense. CP 90; RP 1809. Thus, the only remaining issue was McKnight's claim there was insufficient evidence to support that he knowingly possessed the firearm underneath his seat.

As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, possession may be actual or constructive. *McKnight*, 522 P.3d at 1019; *see* CP 168; *State v. Manion*, 173 Wn. App. 610, 634, 295 P.3d 270

(2013). Actual possession occurs when the firearm is in the actual physical custody of the person charged with possession and may be proved by circumstantial evidence. *Manion*, 173 Wn. App. at 634. Constructive possession occurs when the firearm is not in actual, physical possession, but the person charged with possession has dominion and control over the firearm. *State v. Callahan*, 77 Wn.2d 27, 29, 459 P.2d 400 (1969). "The ability to reduce an object to actual possession is an aspect of dominion and control." *State v. Echeverria*, 85 Wn. App. 777, 783, 934 P.2d 1214 (1997). While control need not be exclusive, the State must show more than mere proximity to the firearm. *State v. Bowen*, 157 Wn. App. 821, 828, 239 P.3d 1114 (2010).

The Court of Appeals here found sufficient evidence to support both actual and construction possession of the firearm. *McKnight*, 522 P.3d at 1019. The court found sufficient evidence to support actual possession, because police observed McKnight "quickly hunch[] over" and he "appeared to be shoving some sort of item underneath the seat." *See* RP 1467, 1613, 1616. A

reasonable inference from the evidence is that McKnight held the gun in his hand and attempted to hide it when contacted by police. McKnight's actions and the subsequent discovery of the gun underneath his seat constitute sufficient circumstantial evidence that he had actual possession. *See, e.g., Manion,* 173 Wn. App. at 634-37 (finding sufficient circumstantial evidence of actual possession based on Manion's flight, his proximity to the discarded firearm, and his contributing DNA on the firearm). The Court of Appeals decision was consistent with case law.

The Court of Appeals also found sufficient evidence to support a theory of constructive possession. Its decision is consistent with *State v. Nyegaard*, 154 Wn. App. 641, 226 P.3d 783 (2010), *remanded on other grounds*, 172 Wn.2d 1006 (2011). In that case, the court found sufficient evidence to prove constructive possession of a firearm and drugs where a car passenger continually moved his hands out of police sight before he was asked to step out of the vehicle, and he dropped a glass drug pipe in the area where police subsequently found a gun and

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